

## Short Research Article

# Hematological profiles of eligible blood donors at Kenyatta National Hospital, Kenya.

### Abstract

**Aim:** To determine hematological profile of eligible blood donors at Kenyatta National Hospital (KNH), Kenya.

**Study design:** Adopted a cross-sectional study

**Place and Duration of Study:** Kenyatta National Hospital, between March 2021 and August 2021.

**Methodology:** This study recruited 202 eligible blood donors comprising of 173 males and 29 females aged 18-57 years. Blood samples (4ml) were drawn from donated units into ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) tube. Hematological parameters were estimated using a complete blood count (CBC) analyzer (Hemacount 5D®). A total of eighteen hematological parameters were analyzed. These parameters included; red blood cell (RBC) count, hemoglobin concentration, RBC indices, white blood cell (WBC) count, absolute and differential WBC and platelet (PLT) count. Results were presented in medians and 95% interquartile ranges and compared using Mann–Whitney U test.

**Results:** The median counts for all hematological parameters were within the accepted reference ranges for the adult urban population in Kenya. For instance, the median and interquartile range for total red cell count was  $4.9 \times 10^6/\mu\text{L}$  [0.74], hemoglobin level was 14.3g/dL[1.8], hematocrit was 44.9% [5.1], white blood count was  $4.9 \times 10^3/\mu\text{L}$  [1.4] and platelet was  $234 \times 10^3/\text{L}$  [64]. Among the red cell parameters analyzed, male donors had a significantly higher RBC count ( $P < 0.001$ ), as well as hematocrit ( $P = 0.001$ ) and hemoglobin ( $P < 0.001$ ) than female donors. Among white blood cell parameters analyzed, only lymphocytes ( $P = 0.011$ ) was significantly higher in female donors than male donors. Platelet count ( $P < 0.001$ ) was also significantly higher in females than male donors.

**Conclusion:** This study showed eligible donors at KNH had a significant difference in red cell count, hematocrit, hemoglobin, lymphocytes and platelets between male and female donors. Additionally, it highlighted that some blood donors had hematological parameters outside the recommended reference ranges. These findings support the need to review the current donor recruitment criteria recommending the inclusion of complete blood count in screening.

**Comment [N1]:** Please use above or below recommended reference ranges rather than outside...

**Keywords:** [Hematological parameters, reference ranges, eligible blood donor, Kenya]

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Assessment of hematological parameters is commonly used to diagnose blood disorders among individuals exposed to diverse environmental conditions. Reference values/ intervals are known to vary based on sex, age, altitude, and ethnicity [1]. Hematological profiles can also be affected by several factors, even in seemingly healthy individuals. These factors include; nutritional, body build, environmental factors, sex, ethnic background and genetic characteristics of study populations [2]. Thus, there are variations between acceptable reference ranges obtained from different populations. A previous study on the American donor population reported that African-Americans have lower average mean corpuscular volume (MCV), hematocrit and hemoglobin levels than their Caucasian compatriots living in the same environment, with the sex and age [3]. However, according to a transfusion research group report, the screening of hematological parameters is minimal during recruiting donors in French-speaking countries [4]. Adopting local reference ranges for hematological profiles is essential for donor screening, diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up.

The reference ranges used in donor recruitment in most African and Asian countries were heavily borrowed from developed countries and may not apply in most geographical locations [5]. Implementing unsuitable hematological reference values may fail to determine an underlying disease or cause unessential further investigations [6]. Furthermore, previous studies in Africa and Asian countries documented lower hematological profiles than those from populations in developed countries [7] [8]. Another report documented that some hematological parameters have significant variation at different stages of life. For instance, hematocrit (Hct), red cell count (RBC), and hemoglobin (Hb) are found to be higher at birth than at any other stage of life [10]. Elevated levels of these parameters gradually decrease at different rates in the following stages of life after birth. In some individuals, the red cells will turn hypochromic as a result of physiological iron deficiency anemia. Eventually, as age advances, the concentration of red cells and hemoglobin content will rise in adult levels [11].

Leucocytes are cellular elements responsible for body defense mechanisms [12]. They are broadly classified into granulocytes and agranulocytes based on the presence or absence of intracellular granules. The distribution and the number of leucocytes in the body fluctuate; however, each parameter has a specific percentage and specific reference range. The acceptable reference ranges for the various WBC parameters are likely to change in response to infections, body mass index (BMI), sex, age and microbial threats [13]. A previous study on white blood cells counts among adults in the United States observed that the white population had significantly higher mean values for percent segmented neutrophils and absolute numbers than the black population. The study further observed the black population had a significantly higher absolute and percent lymphocyte numeric value than the whites. Among the white population, females had lower lymphocyte mean, and higher segmented neutrophil means than white males of comparable age [14]. Another study on the Saudi Arabian population observed that platelets values were lower than the African studies, the Caucasians and USA values. Though female platelet counts differed significantly from the male values, the main cause of the variation is yet to be established [15].

Due to variations in hematological parameters, the WHO [16] has suggested consideration of sex, age, ethnicity, and other local evidence when formulating appropriate reference ranges for hematological parameters. Despite recommendations to regularly review reference ranges based on local demographic factors, there is limited hematological profile among eligible blood donors in Kenya. The existing reference ranges were heavily borrowed from the American and European population over two decades ago, and they may not be appropriate to the Kenyan population. This study aimed to determine the hematological profiles of presumably healthy blood donors presenting to donate whole blood at Kenyatta National Hospital, Kenya.

## 2. METHODOLOGY

### 2.1 Study Area

This study was conducted at Kenyatta National Hospital, Blood Transfusion Unit (KNH-BTU). The facility is located in Nairobi County, the capital city of Kenya. It serves as the largest referral hospital providing specialized medical care to the country's population. This study started in March 2021 and ended in August 2021.

## **2.2 Study design, population, and sampling technique**

A cross-sectional study design was used to target prospective blood donors presenting to donate whole blood at Kenyatta National Hospital. A systematic random sampling technique was used to recruit 384 prospective blood donors. Participants were either allowed (eligible) or deferred for various reasons based on donor recruitment criteria. Only 202 blood donors aged 18 – 57 years were allowed to donate in this study.

## **2.3 Laboratory Procedures**

Blood samples (4ml) were drawn from donated units into ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) tube. Total blood count was performed using HumaCount 5D® hematology analyzer. Eighteen hematological parameters, which included; red blood cell (RBC) count, hemoglobin concentration, RBC indices, white blood cell (WBC) count, absolute and differential WBC and platelet (PLT) count were measured. All blood samples were analyzed within 8 hours of collection.

## **2.4 Statistical Analysis**

Socio-demographic data collected from consenting study participants were cleaned, sorted, coded, and keyed into Microsoft Excel then exported to SPSS version 20 for analysis. The variables collected were not normally distributed. Non-parametric data collected in this study were analyzed using the Mann Whitney U test. Medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) were used to describe and compare hematological parameters. Statistical significance level was set at a P-value of <0.05.

## **3. RESULTS**

A total of 202 participants were allowed to donate whole blood based on donor recruitment criteria. Of these, 173 (86.6%) were males and 29 (14.4%) were female donors with a median age of 28 years. A total of eighteen hematological parameters were analyzed. Among these, the parameters of red blood cells was six, white blood cells (absolute and differential counts) was eleven, and one was platelet. This study found medians and interquartile ranges of all hematological parameters within the accepted reference ranges. However, some donors had hematological values below or above the recommended reference ranges, as shown in Table 1.

Table 2 shows male donors had a significantly higher red cell count ( $P<0.001$ ), hematocrit ( $P=0.001$ ) as well as hemoglobin ( $P<0.001$ ) than female donors. Whereas, Table 3 and Table 4 show female donors had significantly higher lymphocyte ( $P=0.011$ ) and platelet count ( $P<0.001$ ) compared to male donors.

**Table 1:** Comparison of hematological profiles of whole blood donated at Kenyatta National Hospital based on local reference ranges

Parameter	Median (IQR) for males and female combined (N=202)	Median percentiles 2.5 - 97.5 (IQR)	Minimum	Maximum	Reference ranges
RBC ( $10^6/\mu\text{l}$ )	4.9 (.74)	4.1- 6.5	4.01	41.6	4.41-6.48
HB ( $10^6/\mu\text{l}$ )	14.3 (1.8)	12.7- 17.2	12.5	26.1	12.8-19.0
HCT (%)	44.9 (5.1)	38.8- 54.4	36.4	67.4	38-55
MCV (fL)	90 (5)	80.3 - 97.9	75.2	99.5	75.7-95.6
MCH (pg)	29.4 (1.9)	25.5- 31.8	22.5	33.8	24.8-33.8
MCHC (g/dl )	33(1.4)	30.7- 35.1	29.9	36.8	32.2-35.2
WBC ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	4.9 (1.4)	3.1- 7.9	2.7	9.6	3.08-7.83
Lym # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	2.1 (.67)	1.2- 3.5	1.0	4.1	1.29-3.40
Lym%( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	41.9 (12.1)	28.7- 59.4	20.1	69.8	27.2-60.0
Neu # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	2.3 (.89)	1.0-4.5	0.46	6.5	1.05-4.08
Neu % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	47.8 (12.1)	29.8- 64.8	14.3	72.3	28.0-63.3
Mon%( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	6.7 (3.1)	3.3 -11	1.9	12.5	3.4 -13.3
Mon# ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	.35 (.7)	0.2- 0.6	0.08	0.78	0.14-0.74
Eos %( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	2.8 (2.8)	0.8- 10	0.2	22.5	1.1-11.9
Eos # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.14 (.14)	0.03-0.5	0.01	1.2	0.04-0.59
Bas % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.3 (.2)	0.1- 0.7	0.0	1.0	0.30-1.10
Bas # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.01(0.1)	0.0- 0.04	0.0	0.05	0.0-0.2
PLT ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	234 (64)	128- 339.4	112	412	144-409

**KEY:** # = absolute count, % = percentage, IQR= interquartile range, RBC = red blood cells (erythrocytes), Hb = Hemoglobin, MCH = mean corpuscular hemoglobin, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, WBC = white blood cells (leucocytes), Lym= lymphocytes, Net= neutrophils, Mon= Monocytes, Eos= eosinophils, Bas= basophils and PLT= platelet

**Table 2:** Comparison of red blood cell parameters donated at Kenyatta National Hospital based on gender

Erythrocytes parameters	Gender		Mann Whitney U test statistic		
	Female (N=29) Median (IQR)	Male (N=173) Median (IQR)	U –value	Z score	P Value
RBC ( $10^6/\mu\text{l}$ )	4.96 (0.5 )	5.06 (0.7)	1446.5	-3.65	0.000*
HCT (%)	42.4 (5.0 )	45.3 (5.0)	1530.5	-3.36	0.001*
HB ( $10^6/\mu\text{l}$ )	13.3 (1.5 )	14.3 (1.7 )	1466.4	-3.58	0.000*
MCV (fL)	90.8 (4.3 )	89.8 (5.1 )	2050	-1.572	0.116
MCHC (pg)	33.1 (1.2 )	32.9 (1.5)	2412.5	-0.33	0.742
MCH	29.3 (1.6 )	29.4 (1.8)	2322.0	-0.641	0.521

**KEY:** # = absolute count, % = percentage, N= number, IQR= interquartile range, fL= femtoliters, pg=pictograms, RBC = red blood cells, Hb = Hemoglobin, HCT= Hematocrit, MCH = mean corpuscular hemoglobin, MCHC mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, \* mean values of the parameter are significantly different at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

**Table 3:** Comparison of white blood cells parameters donated at Kenyatta National Hospital based on gender

Leucocyte parameters	Gender		Mann Whitney U test statistic		
	Female (N=29) Median (IQR)	Male (N=173) Median (IQR)	Z score	U – value	P Value
WBC ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	5.34 (1.3 )	4.91(1.3 )	-1.91	1952	0.056
Lymphocytes # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	2.37 (0.5 )	2.06 (0.7 )	-2.55	1765	0.011*
Lymphocytes % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	43.1 (11.0)	41.8 (12.0 )	-0.66	2315	0.507
Neutrophil # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	2.34 ( 1.1)	2.25 (0.88 )	-0.95	2231	0.341
Neutrophil % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	47.3 (12.6 )	47.1 (12.1 )	-0.11	2476.5	0.913
Monocytes # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.36 (0.3 )	0.35 (0.53)	-0.72	2401	0.469
Monocytes % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	6.3( 3.7)	6.8 (3.1 )	-0.36	2297.4	0.712
Eosinophils # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.16(0.2 )	0.13 (0.1 )	-0.88	2433	0.379
Eosinophils % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	3.1 (3.3)	2.7 (2.5 )	-0.26	2253	0.712
Basophils # ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.01( 0.0)	0.01(0.1)	-0.76	2494	0.446
Basophils % ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	0.3 (0.2)	0.3 (0.2 )	-0.05	2286.5	0.962

**KEY:** # = absolute count, % = percentage, N= number, IQR= interquartile range, WBC= white blood cells (leucocytes), \* mean values of the parameter are significantly different at  $P \leq 0.05$

**Table 4:** Platelet values for whole blood donated at Kenyatta National Hospital based on gender

Parameter	Gender		Mann Whitney U test		
	Female (N=29) Median (IQR)	Male (N=173) Median (IQR)	Z score	U – value	P Value
PLT ( $10^3/\mu\text{l}$ )	262 (57 )	225 (62)	-3.63	1450	0.000*

**KEY:** PLT = platelet, N= number, IQR= interquartile range, \* mean values of the parameter are significantly different at  $P \leq 0.05$

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The current study determined hematological profiles of whole blood donated at Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi, Kenya. Eighteen hematological parameters were determined and compared to reference ranges established for the adult urban population in Kenya [17]. The reference ranges used were derived from adult Kenyans aged 18 to 65 years residing in urban towns located in Nairobi, Kiambu, Thika, Kisii, and Nakuru. Previous studies had established that Kenyan hematological reference ranges were generally lower than those used in Europe and the American States [17] [18]. The findings from the

current study showed the median counts for all parameters were within the accepted reference ranges. **This observation might be due to similarities in demographic characteristics among participants involved in these particular studies, however, according to a comparison study done by Sing'oei *et al.* [19].** There was a marked difference in some hematological reference values developed in Kericho and Kisumu counties in Kenya. This variation was attributed to the difference in ethnicity, geographical locations, and age group among the study participants.

**Comment [N2]:** This sentence is incomplete. Please recast.

In the present study, some donors recorded hematological parameters **below and others above** reference ranges. Similar observations were made by a study on the Tanzanian blood donor population; this variation was attributed to the difference in donor demographic, environmental conditions, and sample size [1]. It is essential to adopt reference ranges that are population or region-specific to improve accuracy in interpreting laboratory reports in the context of blood donor recruitment. In Africa, there is a high burden of malaria, tuberculosis, HIV, non-communicable diseases, and emerging infectious diseases, resulting in an acute blood shortage [20]. As such, the adoption of local population-specific hematological reference ranges is of great importance in diagnosing blood disorders, treatment, and follow-up [1]. This study validates some of the findings done in western Kenya on laboratory reference ranges that observed if US-derived reference ranges were used, more than 58.0% of participants in a clinical trial would have been deemed unfit [21]. Another study on HIV vaccine trials in Nairobi, Kenya, showed that 61.4% of the participants were excluded because of abnormal hematological and biochemical laboratory **values,** with neutropenia as the leading cause [22].

**Comment [N3]:** below and above reference ranges.

**Comment [N4]:** results

The current study established that male blood donors had significantly higher hemoglobin concentrations, red blood cell counts, and hematocrit values compared to female donors. Similar findings were reported in other studies worldwide, including African countries [1, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27]. Comparable reports have been made in studies done in Kenya [17, 18,19]. The marked difference in hematocrit, hemoglobin, and RBC counts among male and female donors is mainly attributed to the testosterone hormone's effect on erythropoiesis and menstruation in females [1, 19]. A different study reported higher red cell indices in male donors are attributed to body size and mass of muscle fibers. In the early stages of human development, no significant difference can be seen in both genders in hemoglobin or red cell count [21]. It is only after the onset of menstruation that the differences emerge [23].

Female donors had significantly higher lymphocyte count than male donors among white blood cell parameters analyzed. Although not significant other leucocytes subsets were slightly higher in female than male donors. These findings agree with other studies [17, 23, 24, 28, 29]. Difference in leucocyte profiles between women and men may be attributed to innate variability in immune cell behavior [30]. Another study reported women had a greater risk for adverse responses to vaccines, viral infections and autoimmune disorders, while exhibiting cell-mediated and humoral responses as compared to men. The current findings may be a result of contraceptive use among female donors [24]. **However, the variability in immune profiles between male and females has not been solely attributed to hormonal differences but maybe further be affected by variation in triglycerides, cholesterol, and body fat distribution [31].** Another study observed that Kenyan females had higher monocytes counts than males, a phenomenon that they attributed to exposure to environmental conditions and endemic parasitic infections [18].

**Comment [N5]:** Please recast

The current study observed that female blood donors had a significantly higher platelet count than male donors. Other researchers made similar observations [17, 18, 24, 28]. The platelet count variation can be associated with the difference in hormonal types and their concentration in the different gender. It may also occur due to thrombopoietin release in response to menstruation stimulation [15]. Additionally, some studies have documented an inverse relationship between platelet count and hemoglobin concentrations [32,33]. **Several studies African countries have also observed that platelet values are relatively lower than the Western population.** The cause of this variation is unknown, but genetics, malaria, environmental and dietary factors have been suggested as the probable cause [34].

**Comment [N6]:** Please recast the sentence.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the observations made in the current study agree to findings from other published studies in Kenya and other countries, showing significant differences in some hematological parameters between males and females. Importantly, it highlights differences in parameters such as red cell count, hematocrit, hemoglobin, lymphocytes and platelets that are crucial in blood component preparation. Some blood donors had hematological parameters outside the recommended reference ranges, suggesting that some participants could be erroneously enrolled further supporting the need to review donor recruitment criteria.

#### CONSENT

All eligible study participants consent to a written informed consent detailing the nature of the study.

#### ETHICAL APPROVAL

The Kenyatta National Hospital –University of Nairobi (KNH-UoN) Ethical Review Committee approved this study. Permission to conduct this study was sought from Kenyatta National Hospital management.

#### REFERENCES

1. Faya A, Charles M, Sembajwe LF, Dika HI. Haematological profile of healthy adult blood donors in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Tanzania Journal of Health Research*. 2018 Aug 1;20(3).
2. Buchanan AM, Muro FJ, Gratz J, Crump JA, Musyoka AM, Sichangi MW, et al.,. Establishment of haematological and immunological reference values for healthy Tanzanian children in Kilimanjaro Region. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*. 2010;15(9):1011-21.
3. Beutler E, West C. Hematologic differences between African-Americans and whites: the roles of iron deficiency and  $\alpha$ -thalassemia on hemoglobin levels and mean corpuscular volume. *Blood*. 2005 Jul 15;106(2):740-5
4. Tagny CT, Owusu-Ofori S, Mbanya D, Deneys V. The blood donor in sub-Saharan Africa: a review. *Transfusion Medicine*. 2010 Feb;20(1):1-0.
5. Haileamlak A, Muluneh AT, Alemseged F, Tessema F, Woldemichael K, Asefa M, et al. Hematoimmunological profile at Gilgel Gibe field research center, southwest Ethiopia. *Ethiopian journal of health sciences*. 2012:39-50.
6. Dosoo DK, Kayan K, Adu-Gyasi D, Kwara E, Ocran J, Osei-Kwakye K, Mahama E, Amenga-Etego S, Bilson P, Asante KP, Koram KA. Haematological and biochemical reference values for healthy adults in the middle belt of Ghana. *PloS one*. 2012 Apr 27;7(4):e36308
7. Roshan TM, Rosline H, Ahmed SA, Rapiaah M, Wan Zaidah A, Khattak MN. "Hematological Reference Values of Healthy Malaysian Population." *International Journal of Laboratory Hematology*, vol. 31, no. 5, 2010, pp. 505–12.
8. Kueviakoe IM, Segbena AY, Jouault H, Vovor A, Imbert M. Hematological reference values for healthy adults in Togo. *International Scholarly Research Notices*. 2011;3 (5):736-62.
9. Nubila T, Ukaejiofo EO, Nubila NI, Shu EN, Okwuosa CN, Okofu MB, Obiora BC, Shuneba IL. Hematological profile of apparently healthy blood donors at a tertiary hospital in Enugu, south east Nigeria: A pilot study. *Nigerian Journal of Experimental and Clinical Biosciences*. 2014 Jan 1;2(1):33.
10. Evans DM, Frazer IH, Martin NG. Genetic and environmental causes of variation in basal levels of blood cells. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*. 1999 Aug;2(4):250-7.
11. Barbara J. Bain, Imelda Bates, Mike A. Laffan. *Dacie and Lewis Practical Haematology E-Book*. 12th ed., Elsevier Health Sciences, 2016.
12. Abbas AA, Khalil AKH, Yasir H, Fadlallah S, Huwaida O. "White Blood Counts In Apparently Healthy Sudanese Blood Donors in Gezira State." *Biological Research*, vol. 1, no. 6, 2015, pp. 86–90.
13. Dacie JV, Lewis SM. *Practical Haematology*. Tenth Edit, Churchill Livingstone, 2006.

**Comment [N7]:** the observations made in this study are in agreement with findings of previous studies within and outside the country (Kenya), which shows significant differences in some analyzed hematological indices between male and female donors.

**Comment [N8]:** Please explain 'outside the recommended reference ranges'... rather use above or below recommended reference ranges.

**Comment [N9]:** Please include the reference number of the Hospital Ethical Review Committee approval letter if available.



14. Chen, Yequn, et al. "Difference in Leukocyte Composition between Women before and after Menopausal Age, and Distinct Sexual Dimorphism." *PLOS ONE*, vol. 11, no. 9, Public Library of Science, Sept. 2016, pp. 1–9, doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0162953
15. Elderderly, Abozer Y., and Abdulaziz S. Alshaiban. "Reference Value Profile for Healthy Individuals From the Aljouf Region of Saudi Arabia." *Journal of Hematology*, vol. 6, no. 1, Elmer Press, Inc., 2017, pp. 6–11, doi:10.14740/JH316E.
16. WHO. *Global Status Report on Blood Safety and Availability* 2017, <http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254987/1/9789241565431-eng.pdf?ua=1>.
17. Omuse G, Maina D, Mwangi J, Wambua C, Radia K, Kanyua A, et al. Complete blood count reference intervals from a healthy adult urban population in Kenya. *PloS one*. 2018 Jun 7;13(6):e019844
18. Rose N, Tom W, Stanley W Ngethe M. "Establishment of Haematological Reference Intervals for Adults and Adolescents in Nakuru County, Kenya." *International Journal of Health Sciences*, vol. 6, no. 4, 2018, pp. 33–40.
19. Sing'oei V, Ochola J, Owuoth J, Otieno J, Rono E, Andagalu B, et al., Clinical laboratory reference values in adults in Kisumu County, Western Kenya; hematology, chemistry and CD4. *Plos one*. 2021 Mar 30;16(3):e0249259.
20. Ake, Julie A., et al. "Noninfectious Comorbidity in the African Cohort Study." *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 69, no. 4, 2019, pp. 639–47, doi:10.1093/cid/ciy981
21. Zeh C, Amornkul PN, Inzaule S, Ondo P, Oyaro B, Mwaengo DM, Vandenhoudt H, Gichangi A, Williamson J, Thomas T, DeCock KM. Population-based biochemistry, immunologic and hematological reference values for adolescents and young adults in a rural population in Western Kenya. *PLOS one*. 2011 Jun 21;6(6):e21040.
22. Omosa-Manyonyi GS, Jaoko W, Anzala O, Ogutu H, Wakasiaka S, Malogo R, et al. Reasons for ineligibility in phase 1 and 2A HIV vaccine clinical trials at Kenya AIDS vaccine initiative (KAVI), Kenya. *PloS one*. 2011 Jan 21;6(1):e14580.
23. Ali BH, Osaro E, Sani I, Wase A, Festus O, Augustine O, Zama I, Abdulrahman Y, Kabiru D, Haruna YM. Prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia among blood donors in Sokoto, North Western, Nigeria. *Journal of Coastal Life Medicine*. 2015;3(4):312-6.
24. Miri-Dashe T, Osawe S, Tokdung M, Daniel N, Choji RP, Mamman I, et al. Comprehensive reference ranges for hematology and clinical chemistry laboratory parameters derived from normal Nigerian adults. *Plos one*. 2014 May 15;9(5):e93919.
25. Tekkeşin N, Bekoz H, Tukenmez F. The largest reference range study for hematological parameters from Turkey: A case control study. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Investigations*. 2014 Dec 1;5(4):548-52.
26. WG, Murphy. "The Sex Difference in Haemoglobin Levels in Adults - Mechanisms, Causes, and Consequences." *Blood Reviews*, vol. 28, no. 2, Blood Rev, 2014, pp. 41–47, doi:10.1016/J.BLRE.2013.12.003.
27. Yalew A, Terefe B, Alem M, Enawgaw B. Hematological reference intervals determination in adults at Gondar university hospital, Northwest Ethiopia. *BMC research notes*. 2016 Dec;9(1):1-9.
28. Tembe N, Joaquim O, Alfai E, Siteo N, Viegas E, Macovela E, Goncalves E, Osman N, Andersson S, Jani I, Nilsson C. Reference values for clinical laboratory parameters in young adults in Maputo, Mozambique. *PLoS One*. 2014 May 14;9(5):e97391.
29. Odhiambo C, Oyaro B, Odipo R, Otieno F, Alemnji G, Williamson J, Zeh C. Evaluation of locally established reference intervals for hematology and biochemistry parameters in Western Kenya. *Plos one*. 2015 Apr 13;10(4):e0123140.
30. Andersen, Catherine J., and Terrence M. Vance. "Gender Dictates the Relationship between Serum Lipids and Leukocyte Counts in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2004." *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 3, J Clin Med, Mar. 2019, doi:10.3390/JCM8030365.
31. Palmisano, Brian T., et al. "Sex Differences in Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism." *Molecular Metabolism*, vol. 15, Mol Metab, Sept. 2018, pp. 45–55, doi:10.1016/J.MOLMET.2018.05.008.

32. Kulnigg-Dabsch S, Schmid W, Howaldt S, Stein J, Mickisch O, Waldhör T, Evstatiev R, Kamali H, Volf I, Gasche C. Iron deficiency generates secondary thrombocytosis and platelet activation in IBD: the randomized, controlled thromboVIT trial. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*. 2013 Jul 1;19(8):1609-16.
33. Park MJ, Park PW, Seo YH, Kim KH, Park SH, Jeong JH, Ahn JY. The relationship between iron parameters and platelet parameters in women with iron deficiency anemia and thrombocytosis. *Platelets*. 2013 Aug 1;24(5):348-51.
34. Fürst D, Hauber D, Reinhardt P, Schauwecker P, Bunjes D, Schulz A, Mytilineos J, Wiesneth M, Schrenzenmeier H, Körper S. Gender, cholinesterase, platelet count and red cell count are main predictors of peripheral blood stem cell mobilization in healthy donors. *Vox sanguinis*. 2019 Apr;114(3):275-82.

UNDER PEER REVIEW